2003

West Valley City v. Teresa Foy : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION OF THIS COURT

Jurisdiction of this Court is granted pursuant to the provision of Section 78-2a-3(2)(j), Utah Code, and pursuant to the "pour over" Order of the Utah Supreme Court entered in this case.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

This appeal and the predicate factual and legal situation in which is arose present the following issues:

1. Whether the District Court erred in granting summary judgment when (1) there were genuine issues of material fact before the Court which should have precluded such summary judgment and (2) the Plaintiff WEST VALLEY CITY ["the CITY"] did not show it was, as a matter of law, entitled to judgment.
2. Whether the CITY, admitting that it received the "request for hearing" document in a timely manner, can ignore and disregard the mandatory provisions and requirements of its own ordinances and procedures, by failing to provide the requested "hearing".
3. Whether the District Court properly ruled in favor of the City and against Defendant FOY when there were genuine issues of fact in

dispute as to whether the observed violations were actually upon her parcel.

4. Whether the District Court, by ruling within the factually-disputed issue concerning the "request for hearing" and the Defendant's claimed (by the Court, but not necessarily by the CITY) "failure to exhaust her administrative remedies" that she had not requested a hearing, violated the provisions of Section 63-46-19(3), Utah Code, concerning the "defenses" allowed to Defendant FOY.

5. Whether the District Court erred in denying the Defendant an opportunity for trial on the basis that she had "failed to exhaust her administrative remedies" when she had, in fact and in law, fully complied with the municipal ordinances applicable to the "request for hearing", that she had acted through her agent in timely requesting the "hearing", had clothed that agent with "apparent authority" to act in her behalf, and it was the City, in disregard of its own ordinances, which failed to hold the previously-scheduled "hearing", ostensibly out of fear of improperly disregarding her

"rights" (so the City assessed the full amounts of "fines" against her).

6. Whether or not the District Court erred in granting summary judgment when the CITY failed to abide by the clearly applicable provisions of Section 10-11-1, Utah Code [pertaining to the duties of local enforcement officers in cases of debris and clutter], including but not limited to the fact that the City incurred "no clean-up expense" because the CITY did not clean-up the parcel, as the statute requires.

7. Whether the municipality is bound by the limitations and restrictions clearly imposed by the provisions of state statute [Section 10-11-1 et seq, Utah Code] and must abide by such provisions, or whether generalized vague and ambiguous "enabling legislation" authorizing enforcement actions against "nuisances" (not necessarily so characterized in the municipal ordinances) may trump the more detailed and dispositive provisions of state statute.

8. Whether or not the District Court erred in holding the Defendant personally liable for

the debts of a validly-formed and -operating corporation when the Defendant natural person was merely a "director" of said corporation which owned the parcel upon which the majority of the alleged violations occurred.

9. Whether the 1998 "Notice" document recorded by the County was a "wrongful lien" as proscribed by Section 38-11-901 et seq, Utah Code, and whether issues of fact precluded the District Court from granting summary judgment in the municipality's favor on that issue.

For each of the foregoing "legal" issues identified above, the "standard of review" for the appellate court in this case is as follows:

A trial court's conclusions of law in civil cases are reviewed for correctness. **United Park City Mines Company vs Greater Park City Company**, 870 P.2d 880, 885 (Utah Supreme Court 1993); **Society of Separationists, Inc. vs Taggart**, 862 P.2d 1339, 1341 (Utah Supreme Court 1993); **Kasco Services Corporation vs Benson**, 831 P.2d 86, 89 (Utah Supreme Court 1992); **McMahan vs Dees**, 873 P.2d 1172, 1175 (Utah Court of Appeals 1994); **Wade vs Stangl**, 869 P.2d 9, 12 (Utah Court of Appeals 1994); **Allstate Insurance Company vs Liberty Mutual**

Insurance Group, 868 P.2d 111, 112 (Utah Court of Appeals 1994).

Whether the trial court properly interpreted (or applied) a statute is a question of law reviewed for correctness. **Ong International (U.S.A.), Incorporated vs 11th Avenue Corporation**, 850 P.2d 447, 450 (Utah Supreme Court 1993); **Bennion vs Graham Resources, Incorporated**, 849 P.2d 569, 570 (Utah 1993); **Jacobsen Investment Company vs State Tax Commission**, 839 P.2d 789, 790 (Utah Supreme Court 1992).

This standard of review has also been referred to as a "correction of error standard". **Jacobsen Investment Company vs State Tax Commission**, 839 P.2d 789, 790 (Utah Supreme Court 1992); **Sanders vs Ovard**, 838 P.2d 1134, 1135 (Utah Supreme Court 1992); **Commercial Union Associates vs Clayton**, 863 P.2d 29, 36 (Utah Court of Appeals 1993). "Correction of error" means that no particular deference is given to the trial court's ruling on questions of law. **Provo River Water Users' Association vs Morgan**, 857 P.2d 927, 931 (Utah Supreme Court 1993); **Higgins vs Salt Lake County**, 855 P.2d 231, 235 (Utah Supreme Court 1993). The "correction of error" standard means that the appellate court decides the matter for itself and does not defer in any degree to the trial judge's determination of

law. **Howell vs Howell**, 806 P.2d 1209, 1211 (Utah Court of Appeals 1993).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In September 1997 the Plaintiff WEST VALLEY CITY [hereinafter "the CITY"] adopted ordinances to establish and implement a "code enforcement program". Approximately 35 days later---in October 1997---CITY code enforcement officers allegedly observed numerous items of debris, junk, deleterious objects, and other "clutter" upon what those officers believed---albeit INCORRECTLY---to be a single parcel, owned by the Defendant-Appellant TERESA FOY. [In actuality, of the SIX claimed violations, fully FOUR thereof were upon the Lancer, Incorporated parcel. A fifth violation was upon both parcels. And the sixth violation was upon only the FOY parcel.] At times material hereto, Defendant FOY was the sole owner of a 0.15-acre parcel of real estate, located at 3247 West 3650 South, West Valley City and upon which was located a single-family residential dwelling. The dimensions of the "FOY parcel" are approximately 64 feet in the east-west direction and 104 feet in the north-south dimension. Plaintiff's Complaint, ¶3. RECORD at 000002. [Unknown to CITY personnel at the time of the observed violations---but made known to them shortly thereafter-

--was the legal existence and status of a second parcel, the "LANCER, INCORPORATED parcel immediately south of the "FOY parcel".]

As required by City ordinance the code enforcement officers prepared and caused to be mailed to Defendant FOY, then residing in Blanding, Utah, a "notice of violation" directing her to clean up the clutter on her (sic) parcel and notifying her of her "right" to request "a hearing" on the matter. Plaintiff's Complaint, ¶5 Plaintiff's Complaint. RECORD at 000002. In response to the "notice" mailed to her, Defendant FOY contacted her husband Jim Decker---who, with others, were occupying the Foy parcel (and the Lancer, Incorporated parcel) as tenants thereon. Mr Decker and others were in fact responsible for the clutter and zoning violations ostensibly identified by the CITY. Mr Decker caused a letter to be prepared which requested "a hearing", as follows:

October 25, 1997

to: Administrative Hearing Coordinator
City of West Valley
Ordinance Enforcement Office
3600 South Consitutuion Blv.
West Valley, Utah 84119

re: case # 97-5215

from: Renter K Cooper
3247 West 3650 South
West Valley, Utah 84119

Dear Sirs,

Please schedual a hearing as to the above.

Request: 1. That the ordinance officer who issued the citation be present at **the hearing**.

2. That the officer be available for minor questions, discussion.

The landlady, of this particular property, resides in distance South Eastern, Utah. She has made it very clear that she will have no envolement whatsoever. Furtherwell, **she expects this matter to be handle between us here in West Valley City**, directives should be sent to the renter at the above address.

The Landlady's only wish: to be informed "once and only once" of the clearance/resolution of these charges.

Could a complete copy of the citation as well as excerpts of the city code cited as violations be mailed? We will be expecting a letter directly from the City Ordinance, soon.

Thank you.

Emphasis added. Spelling errors in original. RECORD at 000055. A photocopy of the "request for hearing", dated showing receipt by the CITY, is found at ATTACHMENT 1 to this APPELLANT'S BRIEF.] The letter was properly addressed to the specified person, was timely mailed with proper postage affixed to the envelope, and was ACTUALLY RECEIVED by the City, BEFORE the stated deadline.

Although Ms FOY's husband (Mr Decker) stated the CITY originally scheduled a "hearing" as requested, the CITY claims no hearing was scheduled. [The CITY does not dispute that a case file was "opened" against Mr

Decker---albeit against the "corporate parcel"---on December 1st (1997); the hearing on Mr Decker's case was held on December 8th---a mere five days later! See AFFIDAVIT OF JAMES DECKER. RECORD at 000091-000095. The CITY has offered no credible explanation for the apparent discrepancy that the "Jim Decker case" was opened and proceeded to "hearing" in as short a period as seven days, when the municipal ordinance grants to the propertyowner a ten-day period in which to request "a hearing". Furthermore, the CITY has been unable to produce a written "request for hearing" on the "Jim Decker case", nor do the City's records contain such a "written request".]

Although the CITY acknowledged that the original "Request for Hearing" letter referred to the property address correctly, the stated "case number", and that the owner lived in southern Utah and had requested the on-site persons to handle the matter with the City, the City "did nothing" with the "request for hearing". Eventually, a hearing officer---ostensibly as a result of ex parte communications from Code Enforcement personnel---assessed almost \$7,000 in "administrative fines" against the Defendant TERESA FOY for the alleged six violations allegedly observed upon her parcel.

Shortly thereafter the CITY filed with the Salt

Lake County Recorder a "Notice of Violation" describing the alleged violations and the facts and processes which had resulted in the assessment of the administrative "fines" against the FOY parcel.

When the City was unable to collect the "fines" its "hearing officer" had assessed, the CITY instituted the judicial action in the Third District Court, West Valley Department, to obtain a civil judgment to collect those "fines".¹

The Defendant responded to the civil action by pleading numerous factual and legal defenses to the CITY's pleaded claims. Ultimately, the Defendant filed a counterclaim against the CITY for the CITY's filing of a "wrongful lien" against her parcel. [In the course of the litigation, the District Court---holding that the recorded documents were not a "lien"---granted partial summary judgment in favor of the City on the

¹The instant judicial action, filed in the District Court for the so-pleaded singular purpose of obtaining a "judgment" to collect the "administrative fines" imposed by the Administrative Hearing Officer, contravenes the prohibition found in Section 63-46b-19(2)(c), Utah Code, which provides:

(c) Except to the extent expressly authorized by statute, **a complaint seeking civil enforcement of an agency's order may not request, and the court may not grant, any monetary payment apart from taxable costs.**

Emphasis added. Coupled with the proscriptions and limitations imposed upon the CITY by the provisions of Section 10-11-1 et seq, Utah Code, pertaining to the procedures to be followed by the CITY, the foregoing limitation arguably precludes the action altogether.

The "judgment" prepared by the CITY's counsel and entered by the District Court does not award any monetary payment to the CITY, even though such was sought in the initial pleadings.

counterclaim.] RECORD at 000406-000409.

In May 2003 the District Court entered an Order granting the CITY's Motion for Summary Judgment. RECORD at 000714-000716. This appeal ensued.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

The Defendants' arguments are summarized as follows:

1. Summary Judgment in favor of the Plaintiff was inappropriately granted due to the genuine dispute of material fact: particularly, Defendant FOY did, in fact, request a hearing albeit through her authorized agents.
2. The City should be estopped to assert the facts are not in genuine dispute due to its own intentional failure to meaningfully respond to the Defendant's "pre-trial discovery" efforts.
3. The City's failure to abide by the "mandatory" provisions of its own ordinances (to grant a hearing) precludes successful judicial action in this case.
4. The District Court erred in granting Summary Judgment against Defendant FOY for all of the claimed violation when CITY witnesses had previously testified under oath that only

a portion of the "violations" were located upon the FOY parcel.

5. The District Court erred in holding Defendant FOY personally responsible for the corporate "violations" because she was a director of that corporation.

6. The provisions of the CITY's "code enforcement ordinances" violate the detailed and specific provisions of Section 10-11-1 et seq, Utah Code, pertaining to the duties of cities in cases of "weedy lots", etc.

7. The District Court erred in prematurely dismissing the Defendant's counterclaim on the "wrongful lien" issues.

ARGUMENT

I

SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF THE PLAINTIFF WAS INAPPROPRIATE

A

GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT SHOULD HAVE PRECLUDED THE GRANTING OF SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF THE PLAINTIFF MUNICIPALITY

The CITY, on numerous occasions, sought "summary judgment" in its favor on the basis that the Defendant FOY had failed to request a "hearing" before the Administrative Hearing Officer. Such statements---that Defendant FOY did "not request a hearing"---are

incorrect, misleading and constitute a "play on words", advanced in self-serving fashion by Plaintiff CITY and its counsel to justify the municipality's FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH ITS OWN ORDINANCES.

The CITY, claiming to have ignored the timely-filed "K Cooper request for hearing"², seeks to justify its actions (ala inaction) by focusing upon the "agency" (or claimed lack thereof) of "Renter K Cooper". That disingenuous analysis and position is materially flawed and the District Court should have neither countenanced nor implicitly accepted that argument.

The correct analysis should focus upon the FACT THAT A HEARING WAS REQUESTED, ON THE PROPERTY IN QUESTION, CONCERNING THE VERY VIOLATIONS AT ISSUE, BY A PERSON WHO WAS ARGUABLY A "RESPONSIBLE PERSON" AND WHO CLAIMED TO HAVE AUTHORITY AND RESPONSIBILITY TO ACT FOR DEFENDANT TERESA FOY!

In **Hebertson vs Bank One, Utah, N.A.** 1999 UT App 342, ¶2, 995 P.2d 7 (quoting **Parker vs Dodgion**, 971 P.2d 496, 496-497 (Utah Supreme Court 1998), the Court of Appeals wrote:

²See AFFIDAVIT OF JAMES DECKER, RECORD at 000091-00095, which claims that the CITY initially scheduled a "hearing" on the "Teresa Foy parcel", but "switched" the hearing to the newly-opened "case" [involving the "Jim Decker (ala Lancer, Inc.) parcel] only SEVEN DAYS AFTER that case was originally opened!

"In reviewing a grant of summary judgment,
[the appellate court] considers the facts in
light most favorable to the nonmoving party.
..."

1999 UT App 342 at ¶2. Emphasis added.

The so-called "agency issue" (of K Cooper, to act for FOY) might be meritorious and legally significant IF the CITY were attempting to hold Defendant FOY liable for the acts of the "agent" selected by her. Such is NOT the case here! On the contrary: the CITY is trying to OVERLOOK ITS OWN FAILURES in NOT granting a "hearing" on a hypertechnical argument, advanced in "bad faith" and contrary to its own procedures and policies, as embodied within its own ordinances.

The "administrative code enforcement" [A.C.E.] program is governed by the provisions of Title 10 of the CITY's "Municipal Code". Section 10-1-110 of the CITY's "Municipal Code", pertaining to "definitions" applicable to the "code enforcement program", provides as follows:

(19) **"Property Owner"** means the record owner of real property based on the County Assessor's records.

(21) **"Responsible Person"** means a person the City determines is responsible for causing or maintaining a violation of the City Codes or applicable state codes. The term **"Responsible Person"** includes, but is not limited to, a property owner, tenant, person with a legal interest in real property, or person in possession of real property.

Emphasis added. [Arguably, the first sentence contemplates some kind of adjudicative process by which the "City determines [the person to be] responsible for . . . a violation". Thus, Renter K Cooper could---if the City chose to approach it in this fashion---be deemed to be "a responsible person". Thus, his "request for hearing" is facially valid and should have been honored. That the City purports to find persons OTHER THAN PROPERTYOWNERS to be "responsible persons" is confirmed by the "administrative order" entered in "the Jim Decker case" [A.C.E. case # 97-6058, in which Teresa Foy was found---INCORRECTLY, nevertheless---to be the "owner" of the parcel (i.e. "the Lancer parcel") but James Decker was found to be "the responsible person", against whom the administrative order was entered and upon which the City ultimately took a civil judgment---ultimately satisfied---in the Third District Court.³]

Thus, within the "four corners" of the "request for

³The judgment taken by the CITY and later satisfied should constitute a "res judicata" and/or "collateral estoppel" defense, as such involved the very same parcel (the Lancer parcel), the very same claimed violations, and the very same time.

For this new defense which was not available to Defendant TERESA FOY at the time she filed her original "answer", she has concurrently filed a motion for leave to amend to file an amended answer, to incorporate the "collateral estoppel" defense now available to her.

hearing" document [i.e. the "K Cooper letter"], the writer thereof has affirmatively stated his source of authority (i.e. his "agency", as we are now describing it): namely, the landlady wants us (here in Salt Lake County) to handle the problem and deal with West Valley City. In the "request for hearing" he recites information (dates, property address, WVC case file number, the request itself, and so forth) WHICH COULD BE KNOWN ONLY BY A PERSON WITH WHOM DEFENDANT TERESA FOY HAD SHARED SUCH CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION. The "notice of violation" was MAILED to Defendant FOY in "southeastern Utah", exactly consistent with what Renter K Cooper was saying. A mere 11 days later after the assumed mailing of the "Notice of Violation" to FOY, the October 25th "request for hearing" is mailed and is thereafter received by the CITY. It is "filed" in the very case file [#97-5215] applicable to the "Teresa Foy case".⁴ The foregoing, read "in good faith" (which the CITY now doesn't want to practice) and reasonably would lead to one clear conclusion: that the "agent" (e.g. "Renter K Cooper") has been ostensibly clothed with what the law characterizes is "apparent

⁴The Defendant's attempts [December 1999 and March 2002] to ascertain the FACTUAL TRUTH of the CITY's scheduling of "hearing" in the "Teresa Foy case" have been consistently and effectively resisted and frustrated by the CITY and its counsel!

authority"! In recognition of the "apparent authority" of such person (indeed, a "responsible person"), the CITY simply should have scheduled---which CITY initially did---and thereafter conducted---which the CITY DIDN'T---the requested hearing.

The CITY's Municipal Code [Title 10] pertaining to the issuance and contents of the "notice of violation" expressly provides as follows:

10-2-102. NOTICE OF VIOLATION.

. . . The notice of violation shall include the following information:

. . .
(1) Procedures to request a hearing,
and consequences for failure to
request one.
. . .

There is NO STATED REQUIREMENT---within EITHER the Ordinance or the form "notice" promulgated and issued in ostensible compliance with the Ordinance---which requires any "agency" designation be proved concurrently with the submission of the "request for hearing". There is but a SINGLE SUBSTANTIVE REQUIREMENT concerning the "request for hearing": that it be "in writing". Contrary to the CITY's counsel's frequent assertion, there is within the ordinance NO stated requirement that (1) the "request" be manually signed, or (2) that the "request" be in any specified form, or (3) that any "agency" situation requires a formal

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