2003

West Valley City, a Utah municipal corporation v. Teresa Foy : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

I. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY RULED THAT, BASED UPON THE UNDISPUTED FACTS, FOY FAILED TO REQUEST A HEARING OR AN APPEAL AND, THEREFORE, FAILED TO EXHAUST HER ADMINISTRATIVE REMEDIES.

The record contains undisputed facts upon which the trial court correctly based its decision that West Valley City was entitled to summary judgment as a matter of law. Foy admitted that she did not personally make a request for hearing or otherwise contact West Valley City upon receipt of the "Notice of Violation." Foy's supposed "agents" did not have actual or apparent authority to act on her behalf. Also, there was no request for administrative hearing filed within the required time limit. Therefore, the trial court was correct when it determined that Foy had failed to request an administrative hearing in accordance with the provisions of the City's ACE ordinances. It is also undisputed that she failed to file any appeal in district court. Because Foy failed to exhaust her administrative remedies, she

cannot now have the administrative decisions reviewed by the district court. The trial court's Memorandum Decision in this case is correct in all respects and the summary judgment decision in favor of West Valley City should be upheld.

II. THE ADMINISTRATIVE CODE ENFORCEMENT ("ACE") ORDINANCE IS A VALID, CONSTITUTIONAL, EXERCISE OF THE CITY'S POWERS AND NOT IN CONFLICT WITH STATE STATUTES.

Municipal ordinances carry with them a strong presumption of validity. *Murray City v. Hall*, 663 P.2d 1314, 1318 (Utah, 1983). Courts reviewing a city's exercise of legislative discretion give deference to the city unless it has acted outside its statutory authority or its actions are arbitrary and capricious. *Walker v. Brigham City*, 856 P.2d 347, 349 (Utah 1993). Foy incorrectly identifies §10-11-1, et seq. Utah Code Annotated, as preempting the City's ACE ordinances. However, § 10-11-1, et. seq. is a permissive statute which authorizes cities to take action for control of weeds and other "unsightly or deleterious" conditions on property and provides means for abatement, imposition of costs, and collection of costs. The ACE provisions are consistent and not in conflict with § 10-11-1, et seq. They merely provide an alternative means of accomplishing the same result, which is abatement of the conditions specified in the statute and violations of other City ordinances. As a matter of law, the ACE ordinance is not invalid as an intrusion into an area preempted by State law.

III. THE RECORDED "CERTIFICATE OF NON-COMPLIANCE" AND "NOTICE OF VIOLATION" ARE NOT LIENS SUBJECT TO THE WRONGFUL LIEN ACT. THE CITY WAS CORRECTLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON FOY'S WRONGFUL LIEN CLAIM.

The “Certificate of Noncompliance” and “Notice of Violation” do not constitute a lien against the Foy property. The West Valley City Municipal Code expressly states that the recorded documents do not encumber the property, but merely provide notice of possibly ongoing ordinance violations. West Valley City Municipal Code § 10-3-103. Moreover, the documents themselves fail to identify any property interest amounting to a lien or other encumbrance. The documents and their recording also fail to meet the statutory requirements for a wrongful lien. By statutory definition, a “wrongful lien” “means any document that purports to create a lien or encumbrance on an owner’s interest in certain real property...” Utah Code Ann. § 38-9-1(6). The recorded documents do not purport to create a lien or encumbrance on Foy’s property.

DETAIL OF THE ARGUMENTS

I. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY RULED THAT, BASED UPON THE UNDISPUTED FACTS, FOY FAILED TO REQUEST A HEARING OR AN APPEAL AND, THEREFORE, FAILED TO EXHAUST HER ADMINISTRATIVE REMEDIES.

This is a very simple case that has become more complicated as it made its way through the trial court. In a nutshell, the City has enacted an Administrative Code Enforcement (“ACE”) ordinance which provides for abatement of certain ordinance violations. The ACE ordinance also provides for an administrative hearing process and imposes fines for failure to comply. On October 14, 1997, the City provided Foy with a Notice of Violation regarding six ordinance violations on property in which she had a legal interest. (Record pages 5-7). Each violation carried a \$25 per day fine if not abated by

October 30, 1997. Foy failed to abate the violations for a period of time and was charged the sum of \$6,995 in fines and fees pursuant to the terms of the ordinance. She also failed to respond and request a hearing or an appeal within the statutory times. Foy failed to pay the fine and this action was instituted to collect the sum owed to West Valley City. The trial court managed to cut through Foy's attempt to turn this collection case into an appeal of the administrative decision by examining the core undisputed facts set forth above and correctly determining that Foy failed to exhaust her administrative remedies in this case. The trial court's judgment for West Valley City should be upheld.

A. Neither Cooper nor Decker had authority to file a hearing request for Foy.

Foy's arguments in this case are centered around her contention that she requested a hearing, through an agent, and that West Valley City failed to provide her with one. This argument fails because Foy's supposed agents did not have apparent or actual authority to act on her behalf.

First, Foy argues that the "K. Cooper" letter which was received by West Valley City on October 29, 1997, was her written request for a hearing. This argument is based upon the notion that "K. Cooper" ("Cooper") and her husband Mr. Decker ("Decker") had apparent authority to act on her behalf. She argues that the letter meets the requirements of the ordinance, refers to the violation by its case number, and refers to the owner being in southeastern Utah (Foy was in Blanding at the time). She believes that based upon the text of the "Cooper Letter" it should have been apparent to West Valley City that Cooper was acting on her behalf and that the City should have scheduled an administrative hearing in her case.

Instead, West Valley City concluded that the letter was not a response from Foy and did not schedule a hearing on Foy's case. Foy's argument on this point is completely contrary to well established Utah law.

There are many cases in Utah which establish the rules for determining whether or not a purported agent has apparent authority to act for another. The rule is simple. The indication that there is an agency relationship must come from interaction between the principal and the third party, not from the actions of the supposed agent. A finding of apparent authority requires that the acts or conduct of the principal (Foy) create an appearance which causes a third party (West Valley City) to reasonably believe that a second party (K. Cooper or Decker) has the authority to act on the principal's (Foy's) behalf. *Diston v. EnviroPak Medical Products, Inc.*, 893 P.2d 1071, 1076 (Utah App. 1995). The Utah Supreme Court has stated that: "Nor is the authority of the agent "apparent" merely because it looks so to the person with whom he deals. It is the principal who must cause third parties to believe that the agent is clothed with apparent authority." *Zions First National Bank v. Clark Clinic Corp.*, 762 P.2d 1090, 1095 (Utah 1988). The Utah Supreme Court has also stated "It is well settled law that the apparent or ostensible authority of an agent can be inferred only from the acts and conduct of the principal." *City Electric v. Dean Evans Chrysler-Plymouth*, 672 P.2d 89, 90 (Utah 1983).

In this case, there is absolutely no doubt that Cooper and/or Decker did not have apparent authority to act on Foy's behalf. As set forth above, the only way they could be clothed with apparent authority is through the actions of Foy herself. Foy's actions and

conduct must reasonably convince West Valley City that the apparent authority existed. The undisputed facts in this case indicate that Foy took no such action. Foy testified in her deposition that she received the “Notice of Compliance,” but that she did not contact the City. (Foy deposition, record page 580). Since she made no contact with West Valley City prior to the receipt of either the Cooper Letter or the Husband Letter, there is no way that she could have implied to the City through her actions or conduct that Cooper or Decker were acting on her behalf. Foy’s argument that either Cooper or Decker had apparent authority fails as a matter of law.

Any argument that either Cooper or Decker had actual authority to act for Foy is also flawed. As the trial court found, there is no evidence in the record whatsoever that Foy made Cooper her agent. There is not even any evidence that she even knew who Cooper was. As to Decker, Cooper did provide the City with written notice on November 24, 1997, that Decker was her agent and had the authority to act on her behalf. (Record page 584). However, even if this authority was determined to relate back to the time of the Husband Letter, and the Husband Letter is assumed to come from Decker, the argument still fails. It is undisputed that the Husband Letter was not even mailed until November 6, 1997, well after the 10-day time limit for requesting an administrative hearing. (Decker affidavit, record page 92). This argument also fails as a matter of law.

B. No hearing request was filed within the legal time limits.

Even if one assumes that either Cooper or Decker had authority to act for Foy, an alternative reason for concluding that Foy did not request a hearing is found in the

Administrative Code Enforcement (“ACE”) ordinances themselves. According to the clear language of both the ordinances and the “Notice of Violation,” and based upon the undisputed facts of this case, both the Cooper Letter and the Husband Letter were received by the City after the deadline for requesting an administrative hearing.² The pertinent dates are as follows:

1. The “Notice of Violation” is dated October 14, 1997, and the trial court found October 14th to be the mailing date of the Notice. (Record pages 5-7; 714-716).
2. The notation on the top of the “Cooper Letter” provides undisputed evidence that it was received by West Valley City on October 29, 1997. (Record pages 84, 156). (Decker testified that the “Cooper Letter” was mailed on October 27th.) (Record page 92).
3. The deposition testimony of Decker provides undisputed evidence that he did not mail the “Husband Letter” until November 6, 1997. (Record page 92).

There are several sections of the ACE ordinance and the instructions with the “Notice of Violation” that must be considered in determining the last filing date for a hearing request.

These provisions are:

-
2. For an unknown reason, both Foy’s counsel and the City’s counsel below adopted October 30, 1997 as the due date for the request for hearing. This was most likely because the “Notice of Violation” identified October 30th as the date by which the violations must be abated and a “Notice of Compliance” obtained. By the clear terms of both the ordinances and the instructions included with the Notice of Violation, October 30th is not the correct date.

1. §10-2-103 West Valley Municipal Code, “Requesting Hearing,” states that, “The Responsible Person has the right to request an Administrative Hearing. The request must be in writing and must be filed within ten days from the date of service of the Notice of Violation. Failure to request a hearing as provided shall constitute a waiver of the right to a hearing.”
2. §10-1-201, West Valley City Municipal Code, “Service of Notices” states:
“(a) Whenever a notice is required to be given under this Title for enforcement purposes, the notice shall be served by any of the following methods, unless different provisions are otherwise specifically stated to apply:
 - (2) Regular mail, postage prepaid, to the last known address of the owner(s) or other responsible person(s).
(b) Service by regular mail in the manner described above shall be deemed served on the fourth day after the date of the mailing.”
3. §10-2-503 West Valley City Code, “Request for Administrative Code Enforcement Hearing” states:
“(1) A person served with one of the following documents or notices has the right to request an administrative code enforcement hearing, if the request is filed within ten calendar days from the date of service of one of the following notices:
 - (a) Notice of violation;
4. The third page of the instructions of the “Notice of Violation” states, “You must file a written request for hearing within 10 days from the date the notice of violation was

issued. If the notice was mailed, the request for hearing must be made within 13 days of the mailing date.”

5. The third page of the “Notice of Violation” states in large, bold letters:

*****Failure to file a written request for a hearing within
10 days waives your right to a hearing.*****

With the foregoing dates and provisions in mind, the calculation of the due date is relatively simple. The “Notice of Violation” was mailed on October 14, 1997. According to the service rules of §10-1-201 of the ACE ordinance, service then becomes complete on the fourth day after mailing, which is October 18th in this case (not counting the day of mailing, October 14th). From the date of service, a request for hearing must be filed within calendar 10 days. Counting ten days after the 18th of October (without counting the 18th) puts the last day for filing a request for hearing as October 28, 1997.

The undisputed evidence is that the “Cooper Letter” was received by West Valley City on October 29, 1997, one day after the deadline. (Record pages 84, 156). Likewise, the “Husband Letter” was received by the City sometime after it was mailed on November 6, 1997, which is at least a week past the deadline. (Record page 92) The ACE program administrator, Candace Gleed, also testified in her deposition that the request was received past the ten-day deadline. (Record page 84).

C. Foy failed to appeal.

The final blow to Foy’s position is the undisputed fact that she failed to file any appeal in this case. Section 10-2-601, West Valley City Municipal Code, provides that, “Any person

adversely affected by any decision made in the exercise of the provisions of this Chapter may file a petition for review of the decision or order with the district court within 30 days after the decision is rendered.” Foy had an opportunity to appeal either the decision to not accept the “Cooper Letter” or “Husband Letter” as legitimate hearing requests, or to appeal the abatement order issued by hearing officer Lohra Miller. (Record pages 47-50). Foy failed to take advantage of this remedy.

D. Foy cannot contest the validity of the administrative decision.

Because Foy failed to request an administrative hearing or to file an appeal in district court, she is estopped from contesting the validity of the administrative decision or the amount of the fine. The trial court correctly held that she failed to exhaust her administrative remedies.

The well-settled law in Utah is that Utah courts may not exercise subject matter jurisdiction over a claim if a statute or ordinance requires exhaustion of remedies and the party failed to pursue the remedies that were available. *Hom v. Utah Dept. of Public Safety*, 962 P.2d 95,99 (Utah App. 1998). See also, *Nebeker v. Utah State Tax Comm’n*, 201 UT 74, ¶ 14, 34 P.3d 180, 184 (Utah 2001) (“As a general rule, ‘parties must exhaust applicable administrative remedies as a prerequisite to seeking judicial review’”).

In this case, §10-2-601, West Valley City Municipal Code, specifically requires exhaustion of administrative remedies prior to review by the district court. Paragraph (2) of §10-2-601 states “No person may challenge in district court an administrative code

enforcement hearing officer's decision until that person has exhausted his or her administrative remedies."

Although Foy made a valiant effort in the district court to turn this case into a general appeal of the underlying case against her, the trial court judge wisely limited his review to the validity of the City's collection claim. The details of the administrative case against Foy such as the actual location of violations and whether or not she was a Responsible Person as defined in the ordinance were determined in the Orders and Decisions of hearing officers Miller and Gill. The trial court correctly determined that it should not disturb those findings because Foy failed to exhaust her administrative remedies.

Based on the foregoing, it is clear that the trial court was correct when it determined that Foy had failed to request an administrative hearing in accordance with the provisions of the West Valley City ordinances. It is also undisputed that Foy failed to file any appeal in district court. Because Foy failed to exhaust her administrative remedies, she cannot now have the administrative decisions reviewed by the district court. The trial court's Memorandum Decision in this case is correct in all respects and the summary judgment decision in favor of the City should be upheld.

II. THE ADMINISTRATIVE CODE ENFORCEMENT ("ACE") ORDINANCE IS A VALID, CONSTITUTIONAL, EXERCISE OF THE CITY'S POWERS AND NOT IN CONFLICT WITH STATE STATUTES.

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